## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HAROLD EUGENE BROWN,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. SC00-721

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.\_\_\_\_/

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

RICHARD M. SUMMA ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 890588

####

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Defendant in the circuit court for Duval County, where he was convicted of the offenses of attempted first degree murder with a firearm and causing bodily injury in the commission of a felony. Petitioner was the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal. He will be referred to in this brief as Petitioner or Harold Brown.

The record consists of four volumes, and will be referred to as "R," followed by the appropriate volume and page number, e.g., (R.I,1).

The opinion of the District Court and the Order of the District Court certifying a question of great public importance are attached as an appendix and will be referred to as "App".

## STATEMENT OF FONT SIZE

Undersigned counsel hereby certifies that this brief has been

prepared using 12 point Courier New, a font that is not proportionally spaced.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By information filed May 6, 1998, appellant Harold Eugene Brown was charged in Count I with the April 14, 1998, attempted premeditated murder with a firearm of Carletha Brown, in contravention of section 782.04(1)(a), 777.04(1), and 775.087, Florida Statutes. (R.I,8). Specifically, Count I charged that appellant attempted to kill Carletha Brown "by shooting" her with a pistol. (R.I,8).

In Count II, appellant Harold Brown was charged with the April 14, 1998, causing bodily injury while in the commission of a felony, "to-wit: attempted murder and/or any lesser included felony offense,..." in contravention of section 782.051(2), Florida Statutes. (R.I,8).

A jury trial was held September 9, 1998, through September 11, 1998. Mr. Brown was found guilty on both counts. (R.IV,414). A sentencing hearing was held on October 16, 1998. (R.I,152). Appellant was sentenced to concurrent guidelines sentences of 14 1/2 years on each count. (R.I,166).

On direct appeal to the First District Court of Appeal, Petitioner challenged only his sentence on double jeopardy grounds. Petitioner's conviction and sentence were affirmed by the district court's revised opinion issued March 27, 2000. (App. ) By separate order issued March 27, 2000, on motion for rehearing, the district court certified the following question as one of great public importance:

> DO CONVICTIONS FOR ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE MURDER AND FELONY CAUSING BODILY INJURY ON ACCOUNT OF THE SAME ACT AMOUNT TO DOUBLE JEOPARDY?

(App.).

Notice of intent to seek discretionary review was filed by Petitioner on March 30, 2000. On April 5, 2000, this Court issued an Order Postponing Decision on Jurisdiction and Briefing Schedule, ordering Petitioner to file his initial brief on the merits on or before May 1, 2000.

Petitioner notes that the first issue raised herein has been raised by the parties in <u>Gordon v. State</u>, 744 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), <u>review granted</u>, Florida Supreme Court Case No. SC96834, February 10, 2000.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Prior to trial, appellant moved to dismiss Count II on the ground that convictions for both Count I and Count II would violate double jeopardy principles. (R.I,37). The trial court denied the motion. (R.I,40; R.II,8).

The victim, Carletha Brown, testified at trial. Carletha Brown was married to appellant Harold Brown. (R.II,66). Her

boyfriend, however, was Kenny Dennison. (R.II,66). Carletha and Harold stopped living together in December, 1997. (R.II,67). Harold Brown knew that Carletha had a boyfriend; Carletha made no secret of that fact. (R.II,68). Harold Brown moved back in with Carletha in February, 1998, because Harold needed a place to stay after having knee surgery. (R.II,69). Harold and Carletha were just roommates at that point. (R.II,69). By the end of February, Carletha wanted Harold Brown to move out. (R.II,66).

On April 13, 1998, Carletha was visiting her friend Barbara Williams. Her boyfriend, Kenny Dennison was with her. (R.II,75). Carletha noticed her car missing from the parking lot. Carletha then received a phone call from Harold Brown, and learned that he had busted the windshield of her car prior to returning it. (R.II,76-78). Appellant phoned Carletha many times that evening, calling her names. (R.II,79-80). Carletha went home with a police escort that evening. (R.II,80-81). According to Carletha, appellant left messages on her voice mail stating that if he caught her with her boyfriend he would kill both of them. (R.II,82). Carletha went back to Barbara Williams house to spend the evening. (R.II,82).

Appellant phoned Carletha at Williams' house and said he would fix the car. Carletha drove the car to work the next morning. (R.II,85). Against her wishes, appellant took the car, stating that he brought it to a glass repair shop. (R.II,86). Because she did not have a car, Carletha agreed to let Harold pick her up for

lunch. (R.II,86). The two purchased lunch. Harold drove Carletha back to work, and she ate her lunch at work. (R.II,87). Later, appellant told Carletha that her car still was not ready, so he picked her up from work. (R.II,87). Appellant did not arrive at the appointed time, however, and Carletha started walking. (R.II,88). Appellant picked her up on the way, however. (R.II,89). Appellant said he was taking her to pick up the car, but Carletha suspected otherwise. (R.II,90). When she tried to open the car door, appellant "swerved real hard." (R.II,90). Carletha called her son, Curtis, using her cell phone. (R.II,90). Carletha told Curtis to put her mail up for her because she was expecting a check. (R.II,91). According to Carletha, Harold then looked at her and stated: "You-all plotting against me." Harold then picked up a gun from between the seats, put it to her side, said "Bitch," and shot her. (R.II,91). Carletha said that Harold then shoved her out of the car and into the middle of the street. (R.II,93,94). When she looked up, Harold was coming toward her with the car. Carletha said she rolled out of the way and claimed that Harold ran over her purse. (R.II,94). Carletha was taken to the hospital where surgery was performed. (R.II,97).

On cross-examination, Carletha said she did not remember whether the car was going the wrong way down a one-way street. (R.II,121). Carletha, in the past, had 48 convictions for crimes involving dishonesty, pertaining to worthless checks. (R.II,122).

By stipulation, the parties agreed that appellant did, in

б

fact, take the car to have the windshield repaired. (R.II,131).

Jeremy Simmons testified that on April 13, 1998, about 3:30 p.m., he noticed a car driving the wrong way on Adams Street, swerving back and forth. (R.II,132-133). The car made a U-turn. Simmons then noticed the door open and a female fell out. (R.II,134). The car then drove back around the woman and drove away. (R.II,134). Simmons could not tell whether the vehicle tried to hit the woman. (R.II,138). The street has three lanes. (R.II,167). Carletha was lying in the center lane. (R.II,167). When the car drove back towards Carletha, it was driving on the sidewalk. The driver then drove quickly around Carletha, coming very close to her, about 1 to 2 feet in distance. (R.II,169-170,177).

In discussing objections to a physician's deposition, the state made clear that the act of attempted murder was the shooting and not attempting to run over the victim. (R.II,151). The medical testimony was relevant to show that the victim would have died but for the medical treatment. This was relevant to prove the third element of attempted first degree murder. (R.II,151).

Dasha Green assisted Careltha after the shooting. Carletha told Ms. Green that her husband shot her. (R.II,156). According to Officer Wilson, Carleth'a purse had not been run over. (R.II,188). The deposition testimony of Dr. Simon Lampard was admitted into evidence. (R.II,193). Lampard is the surgeon who operated on Carletha Brown. (R.II,197). Lampard said Carletha would probably

have bled to death without the surgery. (R.II,198). The state rested after the reading of Dr. Lampard's testimony.

Harold Brown testified in his defense. (R.III,211). Harold said that he busted the windshield on Carletha's car because she failed to pick her son up from a scout meeting. (R.III,217). Appellant claimed that he did not threaten to kill Carletha on April 13, 1998. (R.III,219). Harold Brown testified that he picked up Carletha after work and was driving her to the repair shop. Appellant testified that the two got into an argument when Carletha "grabbed the steering wheel, and we went down a one-way street, and I hit her on her hand because I was upset because it was rush hour traffic." (R.III,225).

Appellant testified that he has known Carletha for 8 1/2 years and has seen her smoke crack cocaine and use powder cocaine. (R.III,231). Appellant said Carletha gets "real paranoid" when she takes cocaine. In addition, her eyes get glazed and "her mouth is always like she's sucking something up." (R.III,233). Appellant opined that Carletha was high on something on the afternoon of April 14, 1998, because her eyes were glazed as in the past and she was unresponsive. (R.III,233). Appellant said Carletha was paranoid and grabbed the steering wheel. (R.III,234). After appellant hit her hand, he saw the gun come up, and Carletha said: "I'm going to fuck you up." (R.III,235). Appellant said he had one hand on the wheel and one hand struggling with Carletha when he heard the gun go off. (R.III,236). Defense counsel asked appellant

what went through his mind when he first saw the gun. Appellant stated that Carletha had pulled a gun on him before, said she was going to kill him, and cracked him in the head with a vase. (R.III,236). The state's objection was sustained. (R.III,236). Defense counsel argued that appellant's knowledge of her prior acts was relevant to demonstrate reasonable apprehension of harm. (R.III,236).

Appellant proffered the following testimony. Appellant stated that he grabbed her hand and they started struggling. Appellant was steering with his left hand and trying to take the gun away from her with his other hand. During this process, the gun went off. (R.III,241). Appellant said Carletha produced the gun. Appellant did not have it in the car. (R.III,242). Appellant said the gun was coming toward him. He grabbed the gun while it was in her hand. Appellant was trying to pull the gun from her, and it went off. (R.III,243). The trial judge said he would permit the testimony. (R.III,245). The judge, however, stated that he would not permit defense counsel to inquire as to what was going through Mr. Brown's mind (reasonable apprehension) when he saw the gun. (R.III,249). That is, appellant would not be able to introduce evidence of Carletha's former attacks upon him.

After the jury was seated, appellant testified that after he hit Carletha's hand, she said "I'm going to fuck you up." (R.III,250). Appellant then saw the gun coming toward him. With one hand still on the steering wheel, he grabbed her hand with his

right hand. They struggled with the gun, and the gun went off. (R.III,250). Appellant said he did not push Carletha out of the car. (R.III,251). Appellant said he never intended to shoot Carletha. (R.III,251). Rather, appellant was simply trying to protect himself. (R.III,251). Appellant threw the gun away out of panic or fear. (R.III,252).

The trial court then reversed his ruling on the prior bad acts of the victim. (R.III,275-278). Once, when they were having an argument, Carletha retrieved a gun from the bedroom and told appellant to "[g]et the fuck out of here or I'm going to kill you." (R.III,283). On another occasion, Carletha struck appellant in the head with a vase. (R.III,284). The defense rested.

In reviewing the jury instructions, it was noted that the lesser included offenses on the attempted murder charge included attempted voluntary manslaughter, aggravated battery, aggravated assault, battery, and assault. (R.III,296). The prosecutor noted that if appellant were convicted of aggravated battery and causing injury during the commission of a felony, that would be a double jeopardy violation because "one would be included in the other because of the injury element." (R.III,298).

The court instructed the jury on Count II as follows:

Before you can find the defendant guilty of felony causing injury, the State must prove the following element beyond a reasonable doubt:

1. Harold Eugene Brown, while perpetrating or attempting to perpetrate the felony of attempted murder, attempted manslaughter, aggravated battery and/or aggravated

assault did commit, aid or abet an act that caused bodily injury to Carletha Brown.

(R.III,391).

The jury found appellant guilty on Count I of attempted first degree murder with a firearm. (R.I,88; IV,414). Appellant was also found guilty on Count II for causing injury during the commission of a felony. (R.IV,414).

At sentencing, the parties agreed that the appropriate guidelines range was 105 months to 176.25 months. (R.I,166). On counts I and II, the trial court sentenced appellant to concurrent terms of 14 1/2 years. (R.I,166). The court reserved jurisdiction to determine restitution. (R.I,167).

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

# ISSUE I

WHETHER APPELLANT'S DUAL CONVICTIONS FOR THE CHARGES OF ATTEMPTED PREMEDITATED MURDER WITH A FIREARM AND CAUSING BODILY INJURY DURING THE COMMISSION OF A FELONY VIOLATE FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONAL PROHIBITIONS AGAINST

# DOUBLE JEOPARDY AS CODIFIED IN SECTION 775.021,(4)(b)2., FLORIDA STATUTES?

Florida's constitutional protection against multiple punishments for the same offense is codified in section 775.021, Florida Statutes. With this provision, the Florida legislature expressed its intention to permit separate prosecutions for multiple offenses committed in the course of one criminal transaction or episode, with three exceptions. Excepted from this general rule of construction are:

1. Offenses which require identical elements of proof.

2. Offenses which are degrees of the same offense as provided by statute.

3. Offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense.

Appellants dual convictions for the offenses of attempted premeditated murder with a firearm and causing bodily injury during the commission of a felony (attempted premeditated murder with a firearm) violate section 775.021(4)(b)2., because the offense of causing bodily injury during the commission of attempted premeditated murder with a firearm is but a "degree variant" of the offense of attempted premeditated murder with a firearm.

# ISSUE II

WHETHER APPELLANT'S DUAL CONVICTIONS FOR THE CHARGES OF ATTEMPTED PREMEDITATED MURDER WITH A FIREARM AND CAUSING BODILY INJURY DURING THE COMMISSION OF A FELONY VIOLATE FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONAL PROHIBITIONS AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY AS CODIFIED IN SECTION 775.021,(4)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES, BECAUSE THE ATTEMPTED MURDER WITH A FIREARM OFFENSE WAS RECLASSIFIED TWICE DUE TO THE COMMISSION OF THE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF AGGRAVATED BATTERY?

Appellant was convicted under Count I of attempted first degree murder with a firearm. The proof showed that appellant also committed the permissive lesser included offense of aggravated battery, and the record reveals that appellant's conviction on Count I was enhanced pursuant to section 775.087, Florida Statutes, which would permit enhancement due to the commission of an aggravated battery. Under such a circumstance, appellant's conviction for causing bodily injury during the commission of a felony should be regarded as a second enhancement for the aggravated battery and should be precluded by double jeopardy considerations. <u>See Cleveland v. State</u>, 587 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. 1991); <u>Crawford v. State</u>, 662 So. 2d 1016 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

#### ISSUE III

WHETHER APPELLANT'S DUAL CONVICTIONS FOR THE CHARGES OF ATTEMPTED PREMEDITATED MURDER WITH A FIREARM AND CAUSING BODILY INJURY DURING THE COMMISSION OF A FELONY VIOLATE FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONAL PROHIBITIONS AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY AS CODIFIED IN SECTION 775.021,(4)(b)3., FLORIDA STATUTES, BECAUSE FELONY CAUSING BODILY INJURY IS A PERMISSIVE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF ATTEMPTED PREMEDITATED MURDER WITH A FIREARM?

Dual convictions for attempted premeditated murder with a firearm and felony causing bodily injury are precluded by section

775.021(4)(b)3., Florida Statutes, because felony causing bodily injury was, in this case, a permissive lesser included offense to attempted premeditated murder with a firearm. <u>See Sirmons v. State</u>, 634 So. 2d 153, 155 (Fla. 1994)(Kogan, J., concurring).

## ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER APPELLANT'S DUAL CONVICTIONS FOR THE CHARGES OF ATTEMPTED PREMEDITATED MURDER WITH A FIREARM AND CAUSING BODILY INJURY DURING THE COMMISSION OF A FELONY VIOLATE FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONAL PROHIBITIONS AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY AS CODIFIED IN SECTION 775.021, (4) (b) 2., FLORIDA STATUTES?

Appellants dual convictions for the offenses of attempted premeditated murder with a firearm and causing bodily injury during the commission of a felony (attempted premeditated murder with a firearm) violate section 775.021(4)(b)2., because the offense of causing bodily injury during the commission of attempted

premeditated murder with a firearm is but a "degree variant" of the offense of attempted first degree murder with a firearm.

Perhaps the most widely accepted and quoted explanation of the three statutory exceptions found in section 775.021(4)(b), Florida Statutes, is the concurring opinion of Justice Kogan in <u>Sirmons v.</u> <u>State</u>, 634 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1994). In <u>Sirmons</u>, the supreme court found that dual convictions for grand theft of an automobile and robbery with a weapon arising from the single taking of an automobile at knife point violated 775.021(4)(b)2., because the two offenses were merely "degree variants of the core offense of theft." <u>Id.</u> at 153. The second exception, as explained by Justice Kogan:

provides that multiple punishments for the same act are not permitted if the offenses in question "are degrees of the same offense as provided by statute." 775.021(4)(b)2., Fla. Stat. (1989). I think the construction placed on this language by the majority and the cases upon which the majority lies is the only correct one. Florida's criminal code is full of offenses that are merely aggravated forms of certain core underlying offenses such as theft, battery, possession of contraband, or homicide. It seems entirely illogical, as I believe the legislature recognized, to impose multiple punishments when all of the offenses in question both arose from a single act and were distinguished from each other only by degree elements.

<u>Sirmons v. State</u>, 634 So. 2d 153, 155 (Fla. 1994) (Kogan, J., concurring).<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Justice Kogan's analytical framework was approved of and applied in <u>Beebe v. Foster</u>, 661 So. 2d 401 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995).

In Johnson v. State, 712 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1998), this Court explained that when determining whether two offenses are "degree variants" of one another, the court must examine the specific conduct charged when applying an "alternative conduct statute." Tommie Johnson was charged and convicted of trafficking possession of cocaine and simple possession of the same amount of cocaine with In determining whether these two offenses were intent to sell. degree variants, the Court did not examine the broad range of conduct proscribed by the trafficking statute, i.e., the alternative elements of sale, purchase, manufacture, or delivery of cocaine. Rather, the Court found it appropriate to consider only the "particular component" of the statute at issue. Thus, the Court opined that an alternative conduct statute "requires an analysis that breaks the conduct elements into the specific alternative conduct which is in the other statute being compared." Johnson v. State, 712 So. 2d at 381, quoting Gibbs v. State, 698 So. 2d 1206, 1209-10 (Fla. 1997). Thus, in Johnson v. State, when comparing the drug trafficking possession statute to the simple possession statute, the Court did not consider the alternatively proscribed conduct such as sale, purchase and delivery, in concluding that Johnson's dual convictions violated double jeopardy principles by punishing Johnson for trafficking possession of a specific amount of cocaine (more than 28 grams) and punishing him a second time for possession with intent to sell the same quantity of cocaine.

The present case also involves "alternative conduct" statutes, so the same analysis would applies. First, section 777.04(1), Florida Statutes, the "attempt" statute, provides in pertinent part:

> (1) A person who attempts to commit an offense prohibited by law <u>and</u> in such attempt <u>does</u> <u>any</u> <u>act</u> toward commission of the offense, but fails in the perpetration or is intercepted or prevented in the execution thereof, commits the offense of criminal attempt,....

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