IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HAROLD EUGENE BROWN,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. SC00-721

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

EDWARD C. HILL, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 238041

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext 4593

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee, in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, Harold Eugene Brown, the Appellant in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or by proper name.

The record on appeal consists of four volumes. Pursuant to Rule 9.210(b), Fla. R. App. P. (1997), this brief will refer to a volume according to its respective designation within the Index to the Record on Appeal. A citation to a volume will be followed by any appropriate page number within the volume. "IB" will designate Petitioner's Initial Brief, followed by any appropriate page number.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

CERTIFICATE OF FONT AND TYPE SIZE

Counsel certifies that this brief was typed using Courier New 12.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts Brown's statement of the case and facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As found by the lower tribunal, this case is controlled by the legislative intent expressed in the creation of the statute. The legislative clearly intended to punish individuals who commit another felony and in the course of this action injure a citizen. Therefore, the Certified Question should be answered in the negative and the decision below approved.

Alternatively, applying the rules of statutory construction created by the Florida Legislature in section 775.021(4) and acknowledged by this Court in <u>State v. Smith</u>, **supra**, affirmance is required. It is uncontroverted that the criminal offenses at issue contain separate statutory elements. Under those rules of construction mandated by the legislature, the offenses must be separately convicted and punished because they contain unique statutory elements, are not degree crimes, and the offense statutes do not contain a clear and specific legislative statement that they not be punished separately. <u>State v. Smith</u>.

Brown's arguments are flatly contrary to section 775.021(4) and should be rejected. As this Court stated in M.P. v. State, 682 So.2d 79 (Fla. 1996) while addressing this issue:

However, the district court correctly concluded that even without such a specific legislative authorization, the statutes at issue would pass the Blockburger test. Although the offenses at issue here share the common element of possession of a firearm, carrying a concealed weapon requires the additional element of concealment and possession of a firearm by a minor requires that the person who possesses the weapon be under eighteen years of age. Thus, these are not the same offenses for purposes of double jeopardy

Id. at 82.

Application of the legislative directed rules of statutory construction shows that the offenses are separate, are not subsumed into each other, and are not degree crimes.

Furthermore, use of concepts such as multiple enhancements, same evils, and permissive lesser offenses as a basis for invalidating convictions is not authorized by the statute. Therefore, multiple punishments are proper. The decision of the district court below should be affirmed and the certified question answered in the negative.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE</u> I

DO CONVICTIONS FOR ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE MURDER AND FELONY CAUSING BODILY INJURY ON ACCOUNT OF THE SAME ACT AMOUNT TO DOUBLE JEOPARDY? (Restated)

Appellant asserts that the trial court erred in convicting and sentencing him for the separate offense of Attempted First Degree Murder and Causing Bodily Injury During the Commission of a Felony. Appellant is wrong and this Court should answer the certified question in the negative and deny relief.

Jurisdiction

This Court has jurisdiction based on Article V \S (3)(b)(4) as the lower tribunal certified a question of great public importance. The certified question is:

DO CONVICTIONS FOR ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE MURDER AND FELONY CAUSING BODILY INJURY ON ACCOUNT OF THE SAME ACT AMOUNT TO DOUBLE JEOPARDY?

As noted by Brown, this issue is before this Court in <u>Gordon v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 744 So.2d 1112 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999) review granted case

number SC 96,834

The Standard of Review

An appellate court reviews double jeopardy challenges *de novo*.

<u>United States v. Chacko</u>, 169 F.3d 140, 146 (2d Cir. 1999)(stating that: a double jeopardy question is one of law); <u>United States v. Doyle</u>, 121 F.3d 1078, 1083 (7th Cir. 1997)(noting that an appellate court reviews the district court's double jeopardy ruling *de novo*); Falcone v. Stewart, 120 F.3d 1082, 1084 (9th

Cir. 1997)(noting whether the double jeopardy clause has been violated is a question of law, reviewed *de novo*); <u>United States v. Watkins</u>, 147 F.3d 1294, 1296 (11th Cir. 1998). Whether the double jeopardy clause was violated is purely a matter of law. Indeed, under <u>Blockburger</u>, the double jeopardy question becomes solely a matter of statutory interpretation. Thus, the proper standard of review is *de novo*.

Preservation

Appellant preserved this claim by proper objection in the trial court. The issue was raised and ruled on in the lower tribunal.

Merits

The Double Jeopardy Clause provides that no person shall "be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb." U.S. CONST. AMEND. V., CL. 2. Florida's Constitutional provision provides that "[n]o person shall be . . . twice put in jeopardy for the same offense, FLA. CONST., ART. I, § 9. Each constitution's double jeopardy provision has been interpreted in a similar fashion. In fact, this Court held in Carawan v. State 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987) that Florida's interpretation "mirrors" the federal.

However, conviction and sentence for separate offenses in the same trial is, strictly speaking, not a question of double jeopardy. It is purely a question of legislative intent: did the legislature intend that the offenses be separately convicted and

punished? <u>See</u>, <u>Missouri v. Hunter</u>, 459 U.S. 359, 74 L.Ed.2d 535, 103 S. Ct. 673 (1983):

With respect to cumulative sentences imposed in a single trial, the Double Jeopardy Clause does not more than prevent the sentencing court from prescribing greater punishment than the legislature intended. 459 U.S. 366.

. . . .

Where, as here, a legislature specifically authorizes cumulative punishment under two statues, regardless of whether those two statutes proscribe the "same" conduct under Blockburger, a court's task of statutory construction is at an end and the prosecutor may seek and the trial court or jury may impose cumulative punishment in a single trial. 459 U.S. 368-369.

This Court explicitly adopted the above analysis and conclusion in <u>State v. Smith</u>, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989) and held that the Florida Legislature by its amendments to section 775.021(4) had directed that separate offenses with unique statutory elements be subject to separate convictions and punishment: "Absent a statutory degree crime or a contrary clear and specific statement of legislative intent in the particular criminal offense statutes, all criminal offenses containing unique statutory elements shall be separately punished." 547 So.2d at 616. The state submits that the above controlling law is enough to resolve this case.

The state asserts that the addition of this offense into the extensive statutory scheme and the inclusion as an element that the state must prove the commission of another felony is a specific indication by the legislature that irrespective of other concerns, the legislature wanted this statute as an additional conviction when a felon injures a citizen in the course of

committing a felony. This <u>Hunter</u> based rationale was the basis for the Florida Supreme Court's decision in <u>State v. Enmund</u>, 476 So.2d 165 (Fla. 1985) which held that the legislature intended for the underlying felony and the felony murder to result in conviction and separate punishments. The statute involved in this case was passed because the Supreme Court found that attempted felony murder was no longer a crime in <u>State v. Gray</u>, 654 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1995) The district court opinion acknowledged that this broader crime was created in response to the decision in <u>Gray</u>. Its analysis of the legislature's intent reveals that as in <u>Enmund</u> the legislature desired multiple punishment. <u>Boler</u>, 678 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1996) <u>Hunter</u> Since, it is clear that the legislature intended multiple punishments, the question should be answered in the negative and the decision below approved.

This Enmund based proposition does not change because the crime is attempted felony murder and the underlying felony is bodily injury during the commission of a felony, as the lower tribunal recognized that courts of this state have consistently applied the Enmund principle to attempted felony murder and the underlying felony. See McLeod v. State, 477 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), Roulhac v. State, 648 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) Viera v. State, 532 So.2d 743 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), George v. State, 509 So.2d 972 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987) Thus, the lower tribunal correctly determined that Brown's challenge to his convictions must fail.

The state maintains that this Court need go no further as legislative intent controls, however in the interest of completeness other matters will be addressed. The legislature created the statutory scheme found in 775.021(4) Fla. Stat. to evaluate multiple punishment issues. The legislature has repeatedly defended its enactments designed to punish separate offenses. There are only three exceptions are:

- (1) offenses which require identical elements of proof.
- (2) offenses which are degrees of the same offense as provided by statute.
- (3) offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense.¹

These exceptions are no different from the Blockburger test. The Legislature amended this statute to overrule Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987). See State v. Smith, 547 So.2d 613, 616 (Fla. 1989)(the Florida Supreme Court itself noting that it "is readily apparent that the legislature does not agree with our interpretation of legislative intent and the rules of construction set forth in Carawan). The exceptions are merely a codification of <u>Blockburger</u>. <u>Billups v. State</u>, 690 So.2d 1381 1382 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997)(stating that section 775.021(4) is a codification of the Blockburger test). The Fifth District has stated: the legislature expressed its intent that there be a separate conviction and sentence for each criminal offense, unless one of the offenses is a degree of the other, a necessarily lesser included offense and subsumed in the other, or both offenses are identical. McAllister v. State, 718 So.2d 917 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). This seems to imply that an offense can be a necessarily lesser included offense but not subsumed by the greater offense. No, a necessarily lesser included offense is automatically a subsumed offense. Probably what the McAllister Court means is a true necessarily lesser included offense as opposed to a category one necessarily lesser included offense. Florida lists many offenses as "necessarily lesser included offenses" for purposes of giving additional jury instructions that are not actually necessarily lesser included offenses. John F. Yetter, TRUTH IN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: REFORMING THE LAW OF LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES, 9 St. Thomas L. Rev. 603

As the lower tribunal recognized, it is uncontroverted that the offenses at issue contain unique statutory elements. Attempted first degree murder requires the state establish a premeditated intent to kill but does not require any injury. Bodily injury in the commission of a felony requires actual injury be inflicted, but does not require a premeditated intent to kill. Thus, the offenses are separate offenses and the first exception found in § 775.021(4) does not apply.

Furthermore, these offense are not degrees of the same offense. The exception found in 775.021(4) provides that the legislature does not intend for multiple punishments for (2) offenses which are degrees of the same offense as provided by statute. Thus, under the wording of the exception, only the legislature by its use of statutory language may create degree crimes. State v. Anderson, 695 So.2d 309 (Fla. 1997).

Moreover the third exception, (3) offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense, does not apply This requires an examination of the statutory elements and requires one statutory offense to be a lesser. In Brown's case, the statutory offenses are both first degree felonies. Thus, there is no lesser. Moreover, when you combine the lesser offense requirement with the requirement that the statutory elements of the lesser must be subsumed, the only

⁽¹⁹⁹⁷⁾⁽explaining true lesser included offenses and arguing that Florida should follow other jurisdictions and should not create lesser included offense that in fact are not lesser included offenses).

offenses that qualify are necessarily lesser offenses. Neither of these offenses are necessarily lesser offenses of the other.

Finally, Brown argues that these offenses are alternate conduct crimes and a different analysis must be employed. Quite simply he is wrong. First he is wrong because if the legislature intended multiple punishments then whether a statute is a single conduct or alternate conduct statute is irrelevant.

Further he is wrong because this is not an alternative conduct statute. An alternative conduct statute is a statute that prohibits a variety of types of conduct. Alternative conduct statutes are several statutes "rolled" into one. For example, the controlled substance statute, § 893.13(1)(a) , Fla. Stat. (1998), is an alternative conduct statute. Bradshaw v. State, 727 So. 2d 1014 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 712 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1998); Gibbs v. State, 698 So. 2d 1206 (Fla. 1997). be violate in different ways by: (1) selling a controlled substance; (2) manufacturing a controlled substance; (3) delivering a controlled substance; (4) possessing a controlled substance with intent to sell; (5) possessing a controlled substance with intent to manufacture; (6) possessing a controlled substance with intent to deliver. This statute is, in effect, six statutes contained in one. Therefore, if a defendant violates it in multiple ways, the State is entitled to multiple convictions. See McLeod v. State, 577 So.2d 939 (Fla. 1991)(convictions for sale and possession of single quantity of drugs approved)

The bodily injury during a felony statute is not an alternative conduct statute. If you commit a felony and injure someone you are subject to prosecution. Confirmation of this assertion comes from the language of the statute. The statute employs the term "any felony" in the definition. Thus, under the well settled a/any test, See Wallace v. State, 724 So.2d 1176 (Fla. 1998), the legislatively chosen language establishes that there can be only one offense of bodily injury in the course of committing a non enumerated felony even if the individual is injured in the course of the defendant committing several simultaneous non enumerated felonies.²

However, even if it is an alternative conduct statute the convictions are valid. A defendant can violate the bodily injury in the commission of an non enumerated felony statute by committing various non enumerated offenses. Here, Brown committed Bodily injury in the course of committing an aggravated battery, an attempted murder and an aggravated assault³. Arguably three separate offenses. But he was only convicted of one. If appellant had been convicted of three counts of bodily injury in the commission of a felony, one for committing the aggravated assault, one for committing the aggravated battery and

² It should be noted that the statute requires only injury not great bodily harm or any other aggravated form of injury.

³ In fact, there were several possible basis for the underlying felony, the threatening with the gun, the shooting with the gun, and the driving the car at the shot victim lying in the road after the victim exited the vehicle.

one for committing the attempted murder and was also convicted of attempted murder, then those multiple convictions might violate double jeopardy but appellant was convicted of only one count of bodily injury in the commission of a felony and there is no double jeopardy problem. <u>McLeod</u>.

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